

Rules of Association (QLD)

REF: 12/2022 HD-A

Contents

Rule Number	Heading	Page
1	Definitions and interpretation	1
2	Name of Association	2
3	Objects of Association	2
4	HOG affiliation	3
5	Sponsoring Dealer	3
6	Membership qualifications	4
7	Nomination for membership	4
8	Cessation of membership	5
9	Membership entitlements not transferable	5
10	Resignation of membership	5
11	Register of members	5
12	Fees and subscriptions	6
13	Members' liabilities	6
14	Resolution of internal disputes	6
15	Disciplining of members	6
16	Power of Sponsoring Dealer to expel members	7
17	Right of appeal of disciplined member	7
18	Powers of Committee	8
19	Constitution of Committee	8
20	Appointment of Office-bearers	9
21	Election of Committee Members and Nominations by Sponsoring Dealer	10
22	Secretary	11
23	Treasurer	11
24	Casual Committee vacancies	11
25	Removal of Committee Member	12
26	Register of Committee Members	12
27	Committee meetings and quorum	12

28	Disclosure of interests at Committee meetings	13
29	Delegation by Committee to sub-Committee	14
30	Committee voting and decisions	14
31	Annual general meetings	15
32	Special general meetings	15
33	Notice	16
34	Procedure of general meeting	16
35	Presiding member	17
36	Adjournment	17
37	Making of decisions	17
38	Special resolution	18
39	Voting	18
40	Appointment of proxies	18
41	No postal ballots	18
42	Insurance	19
43	Funds	19
44	Alteration of objects and Rules and Use of By-Laws	19
45	Common seal and execution of documents	19
46	Custody of books	20
47	Inspection of books	20
48	Service of notices	20
49	Invalid or unenforceable provisions	21
	Schedule 1 Financial Reporting Requirements under the Act	22 22
	Appendix 1– Application for Membership – H-DA Authorised Form	23
	Appendix 1– Application for Membership – H-DA Authorised Form (Most current to be used)	23 23
	Appendix 2 Form of Appointment of Proxy	24 24
	Appendix 3 Public Officer	25 25

1 Definitions and interpretation

1.1 In these Rules unless the context otherwise requires:

Act means the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 (QLD);

Association means the

Chief Executive means the person holding the position of "chief executive" (as that title is used in the Act) with the Office of Fair Trading.

Committee has the meaning given in Rule 18 and is constituted and operates in accordance with these Rules;

Committee Member means a member of the Committee as referred to in Rule 19;

Discretionary Office-Bearer means an office-bearer appointed under Rule 19.4;19.3

Financial Year means each period of 12 months after the expiry of the first financial year of the Association commencing on 1 July and ending on 30 June.

H-DA means Harley-Davidson Australia Pty Ltd (ACN 098 483 259) its successors and assigns;

Harley-Davidson Motor Company means Harley-Davidson Motor Company, Inc. having its head office in Milwaukee, Wisconsin;

H.O.G. means the Harley Owners Group run by Harley-Davidson Motor Company;

Individual Member means a member of the Association who is not the Sponsoring Dealer;

Licence Agreement means the Annual Licence Agreement for H.O.G. Chapters, including the Chapter Trade Mark Licence Agreement, between H-DA and the Association;

Members means the Sponsoring Dealer and all Individual Members, a *member* means any one of them;

Objects means the objects of the Association set out in Rule 3;

Regulation means the Associations Incorporation Regulation 1999(QLD);

Rules means these rules as amended from time to time in accordance with Rule 44, and *Rule* means any one of them;

Secretary means:

- (a) the person holding office under these Rules as secretary of the Association, or
 - a) if no such person holds that office, the public officer of the Association

Special General Meeting means a general meeting of the Association other than an annual general meeting;

Sponsoring Dealer means the Harley-Davidson dealer appointed from time to time by H-DA in accordance with these Rules

- 1.2 In these Rules unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) a reference:

- (i) to the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- to a person (including any member) includes a reference to an individual, company, body corporate, association, partnership, firm, joint venture, or trust as the case requires;
- (iii) to \$ or dollar is to Australian currency;
- (iv) to a law:
 - (A) includes a reference to any constitutional provision, subordinate legislation, treaty, decree, convention, statute, regulation, rule, ordinance, proclamation, by-law, judgment, rule of common law or equity or rule of any applicable stock exchange;
 - (B) is a reference to that law as amended, consolidated, supplemented or replaced; and
 - (C) is a reference to any regulation, rule, ordinance, proclamation, by-law or judgment made under that law;
- (v) to time is a reference to Brisbane time;
- (b) headings are for convenience only and are ignored in interpreting these Rules;
- (c) if a period of time is specified and dates from, after or before, a given day or the day of an act or event, it is to be calculated exclusive of that day;
- (d) where a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding meaning;
- (e) a reference to a function includes a reference to a power, authority and duty; and
- (f) a reference to the exercise of a function includes, if the function is a duty, a reference to the performance of the duty.
- 1.3 The provisions of the *Interpretation Act 1987* (Cth) apply to and in respect of these Rules in the same manner as those provisions would so apply if these Rules were an instrument made under the *Interpretation Act 1987* (Cth).
- 1.4 If there is any inconsistency between these Rules and the Act, the Act prevails to the extent of the inconsistency.

2 Name of Association

2.1 Subject to H-DA continuing to recognise the Association as a HOG-affiliated organisation, the name of the Association shall be

3 Objects of Association

- 3.1 The objects for which the Association are established are:
 - (a) to promote responsible motorcycling activities for Harley-Davidson motorcycle owners by conducting activities and encouraging participation while maintaining a family oriented philosophy;

- (b) to provide communication, advice, assistance and affiliation between groups promoting Harley-Davidson motorcycles;
- (c) to promote and foster discussions of and enthusiasm for all matters and questions relating to Harley-Davidson motorcycles and accessories;
- (d) to initiate and promote rallies and gatherings which encourage the use of Harley-Davidson motorcycles and to continue further research into the maintenance and continuation of Harley-Davidson motorcycles;
- (e) to utilise social media, print and other forms of marketing that the Association may think fit for the promotion of the Objects in accordance with any requirements of H-DA and Harley-Davidson Motor Company and subject to the approval of the Sponsoring Dealer;
- (f) to provide information to its Members in relation to all matters and questions relating to Harley-Davidson motorcycles and accessories;
- (g) to co-operate with any society, organisation or group of persons in any action or matter which the Committee considers to be in furtherance of the Objects; and
- (h) to do all such things as are incidental or conducive to the attaining of the Objects.

4 HOG affiliation

- 4.1 If H-DA at any time in its sole discretion determines that the Association is not adhering to these Rules, H-DA may by notice in writing rescind its recognition of the Association as a HOG-affiliated organisation.
- 4.2 The Association's affiliation with HOG is for a term of one year commencing on the date of acceptance these Rules. This affiliation may be extended for successive one-year terms (each a *Term*) provided that prior to the expiry of each Term the Association applies to H-DA for renewal and H-DA approves such an application.
- 4.3 Revocation by H-DA of the Association's status as a HOG-affiliated organisation in accordance with Rule 4.1 or a refusal by H-DA to renew the Association's affiliation in accordance with Rule 4.2 shall constitute:
 - (a) notice of H-DA's intent to terminate the Licence Agreement if a notice period is required under the terms of the Licence Agreement; or
 - (b) termination of the Licence Agreement if no notice period is required under the terms of the Licence Agreement,.

5 Sponsoring Dealer

- 5.1 The Association must have one Sponsoring Dealer, such Sponsoring Dealer to be appointed by H-DA in accordance with these Rules. There can only be one Sponsoring Dealer at any one time.
- 5.2 An authorised Harley-Davidson dealer may only be the Sponsoring Dealer of one Association at any one time, without the prior written consent of H-DA.
- 5.3 The first Sponsoring Dealer is

- 5.4 H-DA may, by notice in writing to the Committee:
 - (a) remove an existing Sponsoring Dealer; and
 - (b) appoint another authorised Harley-Davidson dealer as the Sponsoring Dealer.
- 5.5 Upon nomination in accordance with Rule 5.4:
 - (a) the Sponsoring Dealer who is removed ceases to be a member; and
 - (b) the Sponsoring Dealer who is appointed becomes a member.

6 Membership qualifications

- 6.1 There are no levels of membership at Association (Chapter) level. Anyone joining the Association (Chapter) is a Full Individual Member determined by 6.2 below.
- 6.2 A person is qualified to be an Individual Member of the Association if, but only if:
 - (a) the person is a natural person:
 - (i) who is a member of H.O.G.; and
 - (ii) who has applied for membership of the Association as provided by Rule 7;
 - (iii) who has been approved for membership by the Association; and
 - (iv) who is entitled to a licence to ride a motorcycle; or
 - (b) the person is a natural person:
 - (i) who is a member of H.O.G.; and
 - (ii) who is a child or regular partner of a person who satisfies the requirements of Rule 6.2(a);
- 6.3 The Association must have at least 5 members.

7 Nomination for membership

7.1 Any person who supports the objects and purpose of the Association and meets the eligibility noted in 6.2 is eligible to become a member of the Association.

A person must:

- (a) submit a written application for membership to the Committee on the form approved by the Association (reference Appendix 1)
- (b) pay the membership fees applicable for annual membership
- 7.2 At any point in time, the Sponsoring Dealership has the right to veto the application and related approval of a new membership submission.
- 7.3 As soon as practicable after the application is accepted, the committee must notify the applicant.

8 Cessation of membership

- 8.1 A person ceases to be an Individual Member of the Association if the person:
 - (a) dies; or
 - (b) resigns membership of the Association; or
 - (c) is expelled from the Association in accordance with Rule 15; or
 - (d) is a member and ceases for any reason to be a member of HOG; or
 - (e) is expelled by the Sponsoring Dealer in accordance with Rule 16.

9 Membership entitlements not transferable

- 9.1 A right, privilege or obligation which a person has by reason of being a member of the Association:
 - (a) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and
 - (b) terminates on cessation of the person's membership.

10 Resignation of membership

- 10.1 An Individual Member of the Association is not entitled to resign that membership except in accordance with this Rule.
- 10.2 An Individual Member of the Association who has paid all amounts payable by the Individual Member to the Association in respect of the Individual Member's membership may resign from membership of the Association by first giving to the Secretary written notice of at least one month (or such other period as the Committee may determine) of the Individual Member's intention to resign and, on the expiration of the period of notice, the Individual Member ceases to be a member.
- 10.3 If an Individual Member of the Association ceases to be a member under Rule 10.2, and in every other case where a member ceases to hold membership, the Secretary must make an appropriate entry in the register of members recording the date on which the member ceased to be a member.
- 10.4 A Sponsoring Dealer may only resign in accordance with the procedure set out in Rule 5.4.

11 Register of members

- 11.1 The Secretary of the Association must establish and maintain a register of members of the Association specifying the name and address of each person who is a member of the Association together with the date on which the person became a member.
- 11.2 The register of members must be kept at the principal place of administration of the Association and must be open for inspection, free of charge, by any member of the Association at any reasonable hour.

12 Fees and subscriptions

- 12.1 An Individual Member of the Association must, on admission to membership, pay to the Association a fee of \$1 or, if some other amount is determined by the Committee, that other amount.
- 12.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Sponsoring Dealer is not required to pay any amount to the Association upon appointment to the position of Sponsoring Dealer.
- 12.3 In addition to any amount payable by the Individual Member under Rule 12.1, a member of the Association must pay to the Association an annual membership fee of \$2 or, if some other amount is determined by the Committee, that other amount:
 - (a) except as provided by Rule 12.3(b), before 1 July in each calendar year; or
 - (b) if the member becomes an Individual Member on or after 1 July in any calendar year, on becoming a member and before 1 July in each succeeding calendar year.
- 12.4 For the avoidance of doubt, the Sponsoring Dealer is not required to pay any annual membership fee.

13 Members' liabilities

- 13.1 The liability of an Individual Member of the Association to contribute towards the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up of the Association is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid by the Individual Member in respect of membership of the Association as required by Rule 12.
- 13.2 The Sponsoring Dealer has no liability to contribute towards the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up of the Association.

14 Resolution of internal disputes

- 14.1 Disputes between members (in their capacity as members) of the Association, and disputes between members and the Association should be attempted to be resolved between themselves within 14 days after the dispute has come to the attention of each party.
 - a) If the parties to a dispute are unable to resolve the dispute between themselves within the time required, any party to the dispute may start the grievance procedure by giving written notice to the secretary of the parties to the dispute; and the matters that are the subject of the dispute to be considered and determined by the committee.
- 14.2 The Office of Fair Trading cannot make orders or decide disputes. Unresolved disputes can be referred to a dispute resolution centre for mediation in accordance with the *Dispute Resolution Centres Act 1990* (Qld).

15 Disciplining of members

15.1 A complaint may be made to the Committee by any person that an Individual Member of the Association:

- (a) has persistently refused or neglected to comply with a provision or provisions of these Rules; or
- (b) has persistently and wilfully acted in a manner prejudicial to the interests of the Association.
- 15.2 On receiving such a complaint, the Committee:
 - (a) must cause notice of the complaint to be served on the Individual Member concerned; and
 - (b) must give the Individual Member at least 14 days from the time the notice is served within which to make submissions to the Committee in connection with the complaint; and
 - (c) must take into consideration any submissions made by the Individual Member in connection with the complaint.
- 15.3 The Committee may, by resolution, expel the Individual Member from the Association or suspend the Individual Member from membership of the Association if, after considering the complaint and any submissions made in connection with the complaint, it is satisfied that the facts alleged in the complaint have been proved.
- 15.4 If the Committee expels or suspends an Individual Member, the Secretary must, within 7 days after the action is taken, cause written notice to be given to the Individual Member of the action taken, of the reasons given by the Committee for having taken that action and of the Individual Member's right of appeal under Rule 17.
- 15.5 The expulsion or suspension does not take effect:
 - (a) until the expiration of the period within which the Individual Member is entitled to appeal against the resolution concerned; or
 - (b) if within that period the Individual Member exercises the right of appeal, unless and until the Association confirms the resolution under Rule 17.5,

whichever is the later.

15.6 The provisions of this Rule 15 do not apply to the Sponsoring Dealer.

16 Power of Sponsoring Dealer to expel members

- 16.1 The Sponsoring Dealer may expel a member at any time, such expulsion having immediate effect.
- 16.2 Any expulsion under this Rule 16 will not give rise to the expelled member having any rights under Rule 14.

17 Right of appeal of disciplined member

17.1 A member may appeal to the Association in general meeting against a resolution of the Committee under Rule 15, within 7 days after notice of the resolution is served on the member, by lodging with the Secretary a notice to that effect.

- 17.2 The notice may, but need not, be accompanied by a statement of the grounds on which the member intends to rely for the purposes of the appeal.
- 17.3 On receipt of a notice from a member under Rule 17.1, the Secretary must notify the Committee which is to convene a general meeting of the Association to be held within 28 days after the date on which the Secretary received the notice.
- 17.4 At a general meeting of the Association convened under Rule 17.3:
 - (a) no business other than the question of the appeal is to be transacted; and
 - (b) the Committee and the member must be given the opportunity to state their respective cases orally or in writing, or both; and
 - (c) the members present are to vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the resolution should be confirmed or revoked.
- 17.5 If at the general meeting the Association passes a special resolution in favour of the confirmation of the resolution, the resolution is confirmed.
- 17.6 For the avoidance of doubt, a member expelled by the Sponsoring Dealer in accordance with Rule 16 has no right of appeal.

18 Powers of Committee

- 18.1 The Committee is to be called the Committee of Management of the Association and, subject to the Act, the Regulation and these Rules and to any resolution passed by the Association in general meeting:
 - (a) is to control and manage the affairs of the Association; and
 - (b) may exercise all such functions as may be exercised by the Association, other than those functions that are required by these Rules to be exercised by a general meeting of members of the Association; and
 - (c) has power to perform all such acts and do all such things as appear to the Committee to be necessary or desirable for the proper management of the affairs of the Association, except that the Committee is not permitted to borrow money on behalf of the Association.

19 Constitution of Committee

- 19.1 The Committee is to consist of no more than 13 people being:
 - (a) the office-bearers of the Association; and
 - (b) persons nominated under Rule 21,

at least three of whom must be ordinarily resident in Australia.

- 19.2 The office-bearers of the Association are to be:
 - (a) the president;
 - (b) the vice-president;

- (c) the treasurer; and
- (d) the Secretary.
- 19.3 For the avoidance of doubt, a reference in any communications, correspondence, promotional or other material published, disseminated or distributed by the Association or a Member to:
 - (a) the Director of the Association is a reference to the president of the Association; and
 - (b) the Assistant-Director of the Association is a reference to the vice-president of the Association.
- 19.4 In addition to the office-bearers listed in Rule 19.2 the Committee may determine that Discretionary Office-Bearers be appointed to the Committee, such Discretionary Office-Bearers to be appointed in accordance with Rule 20.
- 19.5 Each member of the Committee is, subject to these Rules and the rights of the Sponsoring Dealer, to hold office until the conclusion of the annual general meeting following the date of the member's election, but is eligible for re-election or re-appointment.
- 19.6 Subject to Rule 21.8, In the event of a casual vacancy occurring in the membership of the Committee, the Committee and/or the Sponsoring Dealer may appoint an Individual Member of the Association to fill the vacancy and the Individual Member so appointed is to hold office, subject to these Rules, until the conclusion of the annual general meeting next following the date of the appointment.

20 Appointment of Office-bearers

- 20.1 The office-bearers of the Association shall consist of
 - (a) persons appointed in writing by the Sponsoring Dealer; and
 - (b) persons nominated and appointed in accordance with this Rule 20.
- 20.2 Nominations of candidates for appointment as office-bearers of the Association under Rule 20.1(b)
 - (a) must be made in writing, signed by 2 members of the Association and accompanied by the written consent of the candidate (which may be endorsed on the form of the nomination); and
 - (b) must be delivered to the Secretary of the Association at least 7 days before the date fixed for the holding of the annual general meeting at which the election of the Committee Members referred to in Rule 21 is to take place.
- 20.3 Any appointment by the Sponsoring Dealer takes precedence over a nomination made under Rule 20.2.
- 20.4 Subject to Rule 20.3 the office-bearers of the Association shall be elected by ballot.
- 20.5 The duties and responsibilities of the office-bearers are as prescribed by the H.O.G. Licence, the Act, the Regulation and these Rules and as may be determined by the Committee from time to time.
- 20.6 The duties and responsibilities of any Discretionary Office-Bearers are as determined by the H.O.G. Licence and the Committee.

- 20.7 Notwithstanding any other provision of these Rules:
 - (a) a person cannot be an office-bearer if the person is ineligible to be a member of the committee of an incorporated association under section 60 and/or section 61A of the Act; and
 - (b) a person cannot be the Secretary unless the person resides in:
 - (i) Queensland; or
 - (ii) another State but not more than 65km from the Queensland border.

21 Election of Committee Members and Nominations by Sponsoring Dealer

- 21.1 Committee Members shall consist of:
 - (a) persons appointed in writing by the Sponsoring Dealer; and
 - (b) persons nominated and appointed in accordance with Rule 21.2.
- 21.2 Nominations of candidates for election as Committee Members of the Committee under Rule 21.1
 - (a) must be made in writing, signed by 2 members of the Association and accompanied by the written consent of the candidate (which may be endorsed on the form of the nomination); and
 - (b) must be delivered to the Secretary of the Association at least 7 days before the date fixed for the holding of the annual general meeting at which the election is to take place.
- 21.3 If insufficient appointments and nominations are received to fill all Committee Member vacancies on the Committee, the candidates appointed or nominated are taken to be elected as Committee Members and further nominations are to be received at the annual general meeting.
- 21.4 If insufficient appointments and nominations are received to fill all Committee Member vacancies, any Committee Member vacant positions remaining on the Committee are taken to be casual vacancies.
- 21.5 If the number of appointments and nominations received is equal to the number of Committee Member vacancies to be filled, the persons appointed or nominated are taken to be elected as Committee Members.
- 21.6 If the number of appointments and nominations received exceeds the number of Committee Member vacancies to be filled, subject to Rule 19.1,
 - (a) if the Sponsoring Dealer has appointed any person, that person is taken to be an Committee Member; and
 - (b) to the extent vacancies remain on the Committee, a ballot is to be held.
- 21.7 The ballot for the election of Committee Members is to be conducted at the annual general meeting in such usual and proper manner as the Committee may direct.
- 21.8 Subject to Rule 19.1, the Sponsoring Dealer may from time to time by notice in writing to the Committee:

- (a) appoint a person or persons to be a member of the Committee; and
- (b) remove a person or persons as a member of the Committee, irrespective of whether that person was approved by the Sponsoring Dealer or nominated by members.

22 Secretary

- 22.1 The Secretary of the Association must, as soon as practicable after being appointed as Secretary, lodge notice with the Association of his or her address.
- 22.2 It is the duty of the Secretary to keep minutes of:
 - (a) all appointments of office-bearers and Committee Members;
 - (b) the names of members of the Committee present at a Committee meeting or a general meeting; and
 - (c) all proceedings at Committee meetings and general meetings.
- 22.3 Minutes of proceedings at a meeting must be signed by the chairperson of the meeting or by the chairperson of the next meeting.

23 Treasurer

- 23.1 It is the duty of the treasurer of the Association to ensure:
 - (a) that all money due to the Association is collected and received and that all payments authorised by the Association are made; and
 - (b) that correct books and accounts are kept showing the financial affairs of the Association, including full details of all receipts and expenditure connected with the activities of the Association.

24 Casual Committee vacancies

- 24.1 For the purposes of these Rules, a casual vacancy in the office of a Committee Member occurs if the Committee Member:
 - (a) dies; or
 - (b) ceases to be an Individual Member of the Association; or
 - (c) becomes an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth); or
 - (d) resigns office by notice in writing given to the Secretary; or
 - (e) is removed from office under Rule 25; or
 - (f) becomes a mentally incapacitated person; or

- (g) is absent without the consent of the Committee from all meetings of the Committee held during a period of 6 months;
- (h) fails to meet any requirements for being a Committee Member set out in the Act; or
- (i) the Sponsoring Dealer exercises its rights under Rule 21.8(b).

25 Removal of Committee Member

- 25.1 The Association in general meeting may by resolution remove any Committee Member (other than an Committee Member appointed pursuant to Rule 21.1(a)) from the office of Committee Member before the expiration of the Committee Member's term of office and may by resolution appoint another person to hold office until the expiration of the term of office of the member so removed.
- 25.2 If an Committee Member to whom a proposed resolution referred to in Rule 25.1 relates makes representations in writing to the Secretary or president (not exceeding a reasonable length) and requests that the representations be notified to the members of the Association, the Secretary or the president may send a copy of the representations to each member of the Association or, if the representations are not so sent, the Committee Member is entitled to require that the representations be read out at the meeting at which the resolution is considered.

26 Register of Committee Members

- 26.1 The Association must establish and maintain a register of Committee Members specifying in relation to each Committee Member:
 - (a) the Committee Member's name, residential address and email address;
 - (b) the date on which the Committee Member takes office, and
 - (c) the date on which the Committee Member vacates office.
- 26.2 The register of Committee Members must be kept at the principal place of administration of the Association and must be open for inspection, free of charge, by any person at any reasonable hour.
- 26.3 Any change in the Committee's membership must be recorded in the register within one month after the change occurs.

27 Committee meetings and quorum

- 27.1 The Committee must meet at least 3 times in each period of 12 months at such place and time as the Committee may determine.
- 27.2 Additional meetings of the Committee may be convened by the president or by any member of the Committee.
- 27.3 Oral or written notice of a meeting of the Committee must be given by the Secretary to each member of the Committee at least 48 hours (or such other period as may be unanimously

agreed on by the members of the Committee) before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting.

- 27.4 Notice of a meeting given under Rule 27.3 must specify the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting and no business other than that business is to be transacted at the meeting, except business which the Committee members present at the meeting unanimously agree to treat as urgent business.
- 27.5 Three members of the Committee constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a meeting of the Committee provided that one of the three members present is an office-bearer provided always that the quorum must include a Sponsoring Dealer Representative.
- 27.6 No business is to be transacted by the Committee unless a quorum is present and if, within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting, a quorum is not present, the meeting is to stand adjourned to the same place and at the same hour of the same day in the following week.
- 27.7 If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting is to be dissolved.
- 27.8 At a meeting of the Committee:
 - (a) the president or, in the president's absence, the vice-president is to preside; or
 - (b) if the president and the vice-president are absent or unwilling to act, such one of the remaining members of the Committee as may be chosen by the members present at the meeting is to preside.

28 Disclosure of interests at Committee meetings

- 28.1 If:
 - (a) a Committee Member has a direct or indirect interest in a matter being considered or about to be considered at a Committee meeting, and
 - (b) the interest appears to raise a conflict with the proper performance of the Committee Member's duties in relation to the consideration of the matter,

the Committee Member must, as soon as possible after the relevant facts have come to the Committee Member's knowledge, disclose the nature of the interest at a Committee meeting.

- 28.2 Particulars of any disclosure made under this Rule must be recorded by the Committee in a book kept for that purpose and that book must be open at all reasonable hours to inspection by any member of the Association on payment of a fee determined by the Committee (but not exceeding any maximum fee that may be prescribed by any applicable law).
- 28.3 The book must be kept at the principal place of administration of the Association.
- 28.4 After a Committee Member has disclosed the nature of an interest in any matter, the Committee Member must not, unless the Committee otherwise determines:
 - (a) be present during any deliberation of the Committee with respect to the matter; or
 - (b) take part in any decision of the Committee with respect to the matter.
- 28.5 For the purposes of the making of a determination by the Committee under Rule 28.4 a Committee Member who has a direct or indirect interest in a matter to which the disclosure relates must not:

- (a) be present during any deliberation of the Committee for the purpose of making the determination, or
- (b) take part in the making by the Committee of the determination.

29 Delegation by Committee to sub-Committee

- 29.1 The Committee may, by instrument in writing, delegate to one or more sub-Committees (consisting of such member or members of the Association as the Committee thinks fit) the exercise of such of the functions of the Committee as are specified in the instrument, other than:
 - (a) this power of delegation; and
 - (b) a function which is a duty imposed on the Committee by the Act or by any other law.
- 29.2 A function the exercise of which has been delegated to a sub-Committee under this Rule may, while the delegation remains unrevoked, be exercised from time to time by the sub-Committee in accordance with the terms of the delegation.
- 29.3 A delegation under this Rule may be made subject to such conditions or limitations as to the exercise of any function, or as to time or circumstances, as may be specified in the instrument of delegation.
- 29.4 Despite any delegation under this Rule, the Committee may continue to exercise any function delegated.
- 29.5 Any act or thing done or suffered by a sub-Committee acting in the exercise of a delegation under this Rule has the same force and effect as it would have if it had been done or suffered by the Committee.
- 29.6 The Committee may, by instrument in writing, revoke wholly or in part any delegation under this Rule.
- 29.7 A sub-Committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.
- 29.8 Any delegation under this Rule 29 may only be made with the prior consent of the Sponsoring Dealer.

30 Committee voting and decisions

- 30.1 Questions arising at a meeting of the Committee or of any sub-Committee appointed by the Committee are to be determined by a majority of the votes of members of the Committee or sub-Committee present at the meeting.
- 30.2 Each member present at a meeting of the Committee or of any sub-Committee appointed by the Committee (including the person presiding at the meeting) is entitled to one vote but, in the event of an equality of votes on any question, the person presiding or the Sponsoring Dealer may exercise a second or casting vote.
- 30.3 Subject to Rule 27.5, the Committee may act despite any vacancy on the Committee.
- 30.4 Any act or thing done or suffered, or purporting to have been done or suffered, by the Committee or by a sub-Committee appointed by the Committee, is valid and effectual despite

any defect that may afterwards be discovered in the appointment or qualification of any member of the Committee or sub-Committee.

30.5 Any decision made by the Committee or of any sub-Committee under this Rule 30 may be overruled by the Sponsoring Dealer notifying the President in writing of such a determination.

31 Annual general meetings

Holding annual general meetings

- 31.1 With the exception of the first annual general meeting of the Association, the Association must, at least once in each calendar year and within the period of 6 months after the expiration of each financial year of the Association, convene an annual general meeting of its members.
- 31.2 The Association must hold its first annual general meeting:
 - (a) within the period of 18 months after its incorporation under the Act; and
 - (b) within the period of 6 months after the expiration of the first financial year of the Association.

Calling annual general meetings

31.3 The annual general meeting of the Association is, subject to the Act and to Rules 31.1 and 31.2, to be convened on such date and at such place and time as the Committee thinks fit.

Business at annual general meetings

- 31.4 In addition to any other business which may be transacted at an annual general meeting, the business of an annual general meeting is to include the following:
 - (a) to confirm the minutes of the last preceding annual general meeting and of any special general meeting held since that meeting;
 - (b) to receive from the Committee reports on the activities of the Association during the last preceding financial year;
 - (c) if required, to vote on the appointment of the office-bearers of the Association;
 - (d) if required, to elect Committee Members of the Committee; and
 - (e) to receive and consider the statement which is required to be submitted to members under Part 6, Division 2 of the Act.¹
- 31.5 An annual general meeting must be specified as such in the notice convening it.

32 Special general meetings

32.1 The Committee may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a special general meeting of the Association.

¹ The Act divides incorporated associations into three tiers for the purposes of financial reporting. These tiers are based on the association's current assets and total revenue plus whether they are required to be audited under certain gaming legislation. More stringent reporting requirements apply to those associations with higher asset value and total revenue. See Schedule 1 for a table setting out the three tiers and the respective reporting requirements.

- 32.2 The Committee must, on the requisition in writing of:
 - (a) at least 5 per cent of the total number of members; or
 - (b) the Sponsoring Dealer,

convene a special general meeting of the Association.

- 32.3 A requisition of members for a special general meeting:
 - (a) must state the purpose or purposes of the meeting;
 - (b) must be signed by the members making the requisition;
 - (c) must be lodged with the Secretary, and
 - (d) may consist of several documents in a similar form, each signed by one or more of the members making the requisition.
- 32.4 If the Committee fails to convene a special general meeting to be held within 1 month after that date on which a requisition for the meeting is lodged with the Secretary, any one or more of the members or the Sponsoring Dealer (as the case may be) who made the requisition may convene a special general meeting to be held not later than 3 months after that date.
- 32.5 A special general meeting convened in the manner referred to in Rule 32.4 must be convened as nearly as is practicable in the same manner as general meetings are convened by the Committee.

33 Notice

- 33.1 Except if the nature of the business proposed to be dealt with at a general meeting requires a special resolution of the Association, the Secretary must, at least 14 days before the date fixed for the holding of the general meeting, give a notice to each member specifying the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business proposed to be transacted at the meeting.
- 33.2 If the nature of the business proposed to be dealt with at a general meeting requires a special resolution of the Association, the Secretary must, at least 21 days before the date fixed for the holding of the general meeting, cause notice to be given to each member specifying, in addition to the matter required under Rule 33.1, the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution.
- 33.3 No business other than that specified in the notice convening a general meeting is to be transacted at the meeting except, in the case of an annual general meeting, business which may be transacted under Rule 31.4.
- 33.4 A member desiring to bring any business before a general meeting may give notice in writing of that business to the Secretary who must include that business in the next notice calling a general meeting given after receipt of the notice from the member.

34 Procedure of general meeting

34.1 No item of business is to be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members entitled under these Rules to vote is present during the time the meeting is considering that item.

- 34.2 Five members present in person (being members entitled under these Rules to vote at a general meeting) constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a general meeting.
- 34.3 If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of a general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting:
 - (a) if convened on the requisition of members, is to be dissolved; and
 - (b) in any other case, is to stand adjourned to the same day in the following week at the same time and (unless another place is specified at the time of the adjournment by the person presiding at the meeting or communicated by written notice to members given before the day to which the meeting is adjourned) at the same place.
- 34.4 If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, the members present (being at least 3) is to constitute a quorum.

35 Presiding member

- 35.1 The president or, in the president's absence, the vice-president, is to preside as chairperson at each general meeting of the Association.
- 35.2 If the president and the vice-president are absent or unwilling to act, the members present must elect one of their number to preside as chairperson at the meeting.

36 Adjournment

- 36.1 The chairperson of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent of the majority of members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place, but no business is to be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment took place.
- 36.2 If a general meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, the Secretary must give written or oral notice of the adjourned meeting to each member of the Association stating the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- 36.3 Except as provided in Rules 36.1 and 36.2, notice of an adjournment of a general meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting is not required to be given.

37 Making of decisions

- 37.1 A question arising at a general meeting of the Association is to be determined on a show of hands and, unless before or on the declaration of the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost, or an entry to that effect in the minute book of the Association, is evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against that resolution.
- 37.2 At a general meeting of the Association, a poll may be demanded by the chairperson or by at least 3 members present in person or by proxy at the meeting.
- 37.3 If a poll is demanded at a general meeting, the poll must be taken:

- (a) immediately in the case of a poll which relates to the election of the chairperson of the meeting or to the question of an adjournment; or
- (b) in any other case, in such manner and at such time before the close of the meeting as the chairperson directs, and the resolution of the poll on the matter is taken to be the resolution of the meeting on that matter.
- 37.4 Subject to any resolution required by law, the Sponsoring Dealer must approve in writing any resolution which the Committee proposes to be put to any general meeting of the Association.

38 Special resolution

38.1 A resolution of the Association is a special resolution if it is passed by a majority which comprises at least three-quarters of such members of the Association as, being entitled under these Rules so to do, vote in person or by proxy at a general meeting of which at least 21 days' written notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution was given in accordance with these Rules.

39 Voting

- 39.1 Subject to Rules 39.2 and 39.3, on any question arising at a general meeting of the Association a member has one vote only.
- 39.2 No Individual Member may vote on any resolution to change the name of the Association.
- 39.3 All votes must be given personally or by proxy but no member may hold more than 2 proxies.
- 39.4 In the case of an equality of votes on a question at a general meeting, the chairperson of the meeting or the Sponsoring Dealer is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote.
- 39.5 An Individual Member or proxy is not entitled to vote at any general meeting of the Association unless all money due and payable by the Individual Member or proxy to the Association has been paid, other than the amount of the annual subscription payable in respect of the then current year.

40 Appointment of proxies

- 40.1 Each member is to be entitled to appoint another member as proxy by notice given to the Secretary no later than 24 hours before the time of the meeting in respect of which the proxy is appointed.
- 40.2 The notice appointing the proxy is to be in the form set out in Appendix 2 to these Rules.

41 No postal ballots

41.1 No resolution of the Association may be voted on by means of a postal ballot.

42 Insurance

42.1 The Association may effect and maintain insurance.

43 Funds

Source of funds

- 43.1 The funds of the Association are to be derived from entrance fees and annual subscriptions of Individual Members, donations and, subject to any resolution passed by the Association in general meeting, such other sources as the Committee determines.
- 43.2 All money received by the Association must be deposited as soon as practicable and without deduction to the credit of the Association's bank account.
- 43.3 The Association must, as soon as practicable after receiving any money, issue an appropriate receipt.

Management of funds

- 43.4 Subject to any resolution passed by the Association in general meeting, the funds of the Association are to be used in pursuance of the objects of the Association in such manner as the Committee determines.
- 43.5 All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments must be signed by any 2 authorised signatories of the Association.

Dissolution or winding up

43.6 Upon the dissolution or winding up of the Association, the assets of the Association should be realised and the funds of the Association, subject to the payment of all debts and liabilities, will be disposed of by being donated to charitable organisations in Australia, with such charitable organisations to be decided by the members in a general meeting.

44 Alteration of objects and Rules and Use of By-Laws

- 44.1 The statement of objects and these Rules may not be altered, rescinded or added to without prior written consent of H-DA and then accepted by a special resolution of the Association.
- 44.2 By-Laws are not required and will not be accepted.
- 44.3 The H-DA Rules must be lodged with the appropriate government body and are to be deemed the correct approved rules.
- 44.4

45 Common seal and execution of documents

45.1 If the Association is required by law to have a common seal or if the Committee otherwise determines that the Association will have a common seal, the common seal must be kept in the custody of the Secretary.

- 45.2 If the Association has a common seal the common seal must not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of the Committee and the affixing of the common seal must be witnessed by two authorised signatories of the Association.
- 45.3 If permitted by law, the Association may execute a document without using a common seal if the document is signed by two authorised signatories of the Association.
- 45.4 The Association may execute a document as a deed if the document is expressed to be executed as a deed and is executed in accordance with Rule 45.2 or, if permitted by law, Rule 45.3.
- 45.5 The person holding the office of public officer of the Association from time to time is, by virtue of that office, an authorised signatory of the Association. The Committee may from time to time appoint additional authorised signatories from among such of the Committee Members as are ordinarily resident in Australia and may at any time revoke such an appointment, provided that the Association may only authorise up to 2 Individual Members (in addition to the public officer) to sign cheques issued by the Association.

46 Custody of books

- 46.1 Except as otherwise provided by these Rules, all records, books and other documents relating to the association must be kept at the association's main premises, in the custody of one of the following persons, as determined by the committee:
 - (a) the Secretary
 - (b) the public officer

47 Inspection of books

47.1 The records, books and other documents of the Association must be open to inspection, free of charge, by a member of the Association at any reasonable hour.

48 Service of notices

- 48.1 For the purpose of these Rules, a notice may be served on or given to a person:
 - (a) by delivering it to the person personally;
 - (b) by sending it by pre-paid post to the address of the person; or
 - (c) by sending it by facsimile transmission or some other form of electronic transmission to an address specified by the person for giving or serving the notice.
- 48.2 For the purpose of these Rules, a notice is taken, unless the contrary is proved, to have been given or served:
 - (a) in the case of a notice given or served personally, on the date on which it is received by the addressee;
 - (b) in the case of a notice sent by pre-paid post, on the date when it would have been delivered in the ordinary course of post; and

- (c) in the case of a notice sent by facsimile transmission or some other form of electronic transmission, on the date it was sent or, if the machine from which the transmission was sent produces a report indicating that the notice was sent on a later date, on that date.
- 48.3 A notice required to be given to the Committee is deemed to be properly given if it is given to the Secretary in accordance with this Rule 48.

49 Invalid or unenforceable provisions

- 49.1 If any Rule or part thereof is invalid or unenforceable in a jurisdiction:
 - (a) it is to be read down or severed in that jurisdiction to the extent of the invalidity or unenforceability; and
 - (b) it does not affect the validity or enforceability of:
 - (i) that Rule or part thereof in another jurisdiction; or
 - (ii) the remaining Rules.

Schedule 1

Level	Who is affected?	Financial reporting requirements
Level 1	Current assets of more than \$100 000 or total revenue of more than \$100 000.	A certified accountant or auditor must audit the financial statements.
	Incorporated associations required to be audited under the <i>Collections Act 1966</i> and <i>Gaming Machine</i> <i>Act 1991</i> .	A certified accountant or auditor, or person approved by the Commissioner for Fair Trading, must audit the financial statements.
Level 2	Current assets between \$20 000 and \$100 000 and/or total revenue between \$20 000 and \$100 000.	A certified accountant or auditor, or a person approved by the Commissioner for Fair Trading, must verify the financial statements. The verification statement must state 'I have sighted the association's financial records and the financial records show that the association has book keeping processes in place to adequately record the association's income and expenditure and dealings with its assets and liabilities'.
Level 3	Current assets of less than \$20 000 and total revenue of less than \$20 000.	The President or Treasurer must verify the financial statements. The verification statement must state 'The association keeps financial records in a way which properly records the association's income and expenditure and dealings with its assets and liabilities'.

² As at 12 July 2010.

Appendix 1– Application for Membership – H-DA Authorised Form

(Most current to be used)

CHAPTER MEMBERSHIP ENROLMENT

2023 Australia / New Zealand



CHAPTER MEMBERSHIP

ENROLMENT FORM AND RELEASE ("ENROLMENT AND RELEASE")

CHAPTER NAME	
MEMBER NAME	
ADDRESS	
CITY/STATE/POST CODE	PHONE NUMBER
E-MAIL ADDRESS	BIRTHDAY (DD/MM)
H.O.G. MEMBER NUMBER	EXPIRY DATE
LOCAL DUES PAID \$	DATE

I have read the Annual Licence for H.O.G. Chapters available on the Chapter web site and on members.hog.com and hereby agree to abide by it as a member of this dealer sponsored Chapter. I recognize that, while this Chapter is chartered with the Harley Owners Group (H.O.G.), it remains a separate, independent entity solely responsible for its actions.

- THIS IS A RELEASE, READ BEFORE SIGNING -

- (a) I understand and agree that all H.O.G. members and their guests participate voluntarily in all H.O.G. or H.O.G. chapter activities, 'Rides', "Poker Runs", "Rallies", "Field Meets", or any other activities or events ("EVENT(S)") which may involve risks of loss and damage to property, injury and death. I am also aware that these risks include the danger of being injured by motorcycles, other motorized vehicles, other objects or the acts of others, and that by other danger of activities in a loss of the set. attending and participating in EVENT(S) I am taking on these risks; I agree that, if I am a consumer of "recreational services" (as defined by any relevant law), I will not make any claim
- (b) Lagree that, if Lam a consumer of "recreational services" (as defined by any relevant law), I will not make any claim against the Sponsoring Dealer, H.O.G., Harley-Davidson Australia Pty Limited, Harley-Davidson, Inc., its affiliates and subsidiaries, Harley-Davidson Motor Company, my Chapter, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents ("RELEASED PARTIES") for any mental or physical injury to me (including paralysis or death), disease or aggravation of an existing condition that is harmful or could cause harm, I suffer as a result of a RELEASED PARTY's breach of its statutory obligation to provide services with due care and skill or which are fit for purpose, or to provide those services in a timely manner, unless that injury is caused by the RELEASED PARTY's reckless conduct. reckless conduct;
- (C) I release and discharge the RELEASED PARTIES from, and will indemnify them for and against, any and all injury, loss or damage to my person or property, and any and all claims, demands, rights, losses (including loss of profits), damages, costs or expenses (including legal fees and costs of investigation), liabilities or causes of action of any kind whatsoever ("CLAIMS"), which may in any way arise out of or in connection with my participation in any EVENT(S) where (i) I have agreed not to make a CLAIM or (ii) to the extent that the CLAIM relates to my negligence, reckless conduct or intentional misconduct.

CONSUMER RIGHTS STATEMENT

As a participant in Chapter activities and other events, you may be a "consumer" of goods and services supplied by the Chapter or the Released Parties for the purposes of consumer protection legislation, including the Australian *Competition* and *Consumer Act 2010 (Cth)* and equivalent State legislation and the New Zealand *Consumer Guarantees Act 1993* (referred to as "CONSUMER RIGHTS")

Except as set out above, or as permitted by law, nothing in this Release is intended to exclude, restrict or modify your CONSUMER RIGHTS.

By signing this Enrolment and Release, I certify that I have read this Enrolment and Release and fully understand its contents

MEMBER SIGNATURE

DATE

RETURN THIS FORM TO YOUR CHAPTER

© 01/2023 H-D All rights reserved.

Appendix 2

Form of Appointment of Proxy

FORM OF APPOINTMENT OF PROXY
I,
(full name)
of
(address)
being a member of
(name of incorporated Association)
hereby appoint
(full name of proxy)
of
(address)
being a member of that incorporated Association, as my proxy to vote for me on my behalf at the general meeting of the Association (annual general meeting or special general meeting, as the case may be) to be held on theday of
• My proxy is authorised to vote in favour of/against (delete as appropriate) the resolution (insert details).
• to be inserted if desired.
Signature of member appointing proxy
Date

NOTE: A proxy vote may not be given to a person who is not a member of the Association.

Appendix 3

Public Officer

What is a public officer?

The Associations Incorporation Act for each state requires that an incorporated association have a public officer. A public officer is both the official point of contact for an incorporated association and one of the authorised signatories.

Who can be a public officer?

A committee member, an ordinary member or a person outside the association may hold the position of public officer.

H.O.G. recommends that the Public Officer is either the Secretary or Treasurer of the Association.

The public officer must be over 18 years of age and reside in the State in which the association in incorporated. An association's incorporation may be cancelled if it does not have a public officer or if its public officer does not comply with these requirements.

QLD

The incorporated association is required to advise the Australian Taxation Office of the name of its public officer for the purposes of the various income tax laws.